| | BRIEF FOR APPELLANT | |
|--------------------------|--|--|
| | | |
| | DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS | |
| | No. 23-CT-2 | |
| GIBRAM WILLIAM ARMSTEAD, | | |
| Appellant, | | |
| V. | | |
| DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, | | |
| Appellee. | | |
| | | |

Clerk of the Court Received 07/25/2023 11:51 AM

Sweta Patel, Esq.
Counsel for Appellant
By Court Appointment
Bruckheim & Patel, LLC
1100 H Street, NW
Suite 830
Washington, DC 20005
(202) 930-3464
patel@Brucklaw.com
Bar No. 1013010

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION, CDC4095-22

RECUSAL NOTICE

[Pursuant to DCCA Rule 28 a (2)]

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

- 1. Whether the trial court erred when it failed to suppress the tangible evidence firearm and ammunition when it was obtained as a result of the unlawful interrogation of Mr. Gibram Armstead by police in violation of his Fifth Amendment right?
- 2. Whether the trial court erred when it failed to grant the motion for judgement of acquittal after the close of Mr. Armstead's case when he raised the issue that D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a) and D.C. Code § 7-2506.01 were unconstitutional under *Bruen* when an individual has a lawful license and/or registered firearm in another jurisdiction and the individual is only traveling through the District of Columbia with no intention to stop but for a traffic violation?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 16, 2022, appellant Gibram Armstead was charged with one count of possession of unregistered firearm, one count of unlawful possession of ammunition, and one count of no permit. After a bench trial on December 2, 2022, Mr. Armstead was found guilty of attempted possession of unregistered firearm, attempted unlawful possession of ammunition, and no permit. Mr. Armstead was sentenced to 30 days incarceration, execution suspended as to all, unsupervised probation for six (6) months, for each count to run concurrent and a total of one-hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) fine to the Victims of Violent Crime Compensation Act of 1981. *See* Judgment and Commitment Order. Mr. Armstead filed a timely notice of appeal on January 3, 2023.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The government presented five witnesses in its case-in-chief: Detective Kirk Delpo, Investigator Daniel Tipps, Officer Allorie Sanders, DMV Investigator Robert Johnson, and Officer Doris Brown. Mr. Armstead testified in his defense.

On October 28, 2022, Mr. Armstead filed a motion to suppress statements and tangible evidence. The government filed its opposition on November 15, 2022. The motions hearing was consolidated into the trial testimony.

A. Government's Case-in-Chief

On July 16, 2022, MPD Detective Kirk Delpo, a member of the Violent Crime Suppression Team (formerly Gun Recovery Unit), was working overtime detail in the traffic safety division conducting seatbelt enforcement in the 1600 block of Bladensburg Road, NE. 12/7/2022 Tr 12:13-2, 13:1-12. He noticed a white Mercedes drive by with the driver not wearing a seatbelt. Tr. 13:15-16. After observing this infraction, Detective Delpo conducted a traffic stop. Tr. 14:22-25, 15:1-2. Mr. Armstead was later identified as the driver of the vehicle. While Detective Delpo was getting

Mr. Armstead's information and informing him of the reason for the stop, another MPD vehicle pulled up to the scene and four officers exited the police cruiser and surrounded Mr. Armstead's vehicle. Tr. 19:18-25, 20:1-2. These officers were a part of the Violent Crime Suppression Team, formerly known as the Gun Recovery Unit. Tr. 20:3-13. These officers were plain clothes with bullet proof vests and were outside of Mr. Armstead's vehicle while Detective Delpo did a check of Mr. Armstead's information through the WALES system. Tr. 20:16-21, 21:4-15. The officers told him they were doing a check of his license to see if he had a valid driver's license and that it was an arrestable offense. Tr. 99:12-25. Then, Investigator Tipps ordered Mr. Armstead out of the vehicle to stand near the rear. Tr. 100:1-17.

While Detective Delpo determined through the WALES check that Mr. Armstead did not have a valid permit, Officer Tipps was speaking to Mr. Armstead and asked, "you don't have a firearm, do you?" Tr. 165:1-11. Mr. Armstead replied that he did and explained that there was a disassembled firearm in the vehicle. Tr. 101:13-25, 102:1-4. Prior to asking Mr. Armstead this question, the officer did not read him his *Miranda* rights. The officers then searched the vehicle and found rounds of ammunition scattered on the floor, a magazine in the pocket of the driver's door, the receiver portion of a firearm in the center console, and the slide portion of a firearm in a zipped backpack in the backseat of the vehicle. Tr. 40, 41, 42. After the disassembled firearm was found, Mr. Armstead was arrested for possession of unregistered firearm, unlawful possession of ammunition, and no permit when it was determined he did not have a license and registered firearm in the District of Columbia.

The evidence was collected and transported to the station by Officer Sanders. Tr. 114:6-9. The DMV Investigator Robert Johnson testified that he later conducted a search and certified that Mr. Armstead did not have a license to drive in the District of Columbia. Tr. 123:9-21. Officer

Brown testified she conducted an official check and certified that Mr. Armstead did not have a license to carry a firearm or a registered firearm in the District of Columbia. Tr. 132:20-22, 133:15-23.

B. Defense Case-in-Chief

Mr. Armstead testified on July 16, 2022, he was driving from Maryland to Virginia to meet his girlfriend at a restaurant in Arlington. Tr. 136:20-25, 137:1-11. Mr. Armstead is a valid firearm license holder in both Maryland and Virginia through his Utah firearm license. Tr. 146:6-9. At the time of the incident, Mr. Armstead believed he could travel through the District of Columbia if his firearm was disassembled. Tr. 142:1-15. He attempted to abide by the law by putting pieces of his firearm in different compartments in his vehicle. Tr. 142:16-21. However, he testified that he later learned after this incident that he misinterpreted the law and the disassembled firearm needed to be in the trunk rather than the passenger compartment. Tr. 148:4-14.

When the officers surrounded Mr. Armstead's vehicle and ordered him out of it, he testified he did not believe he was free to leave as he thought he would be arrested for not having a driver's license. Tr. 140:1-24. After Investigator Tipps questioned Mr. Armstead about having a firearm, he felt obligated to answer due to his firearm training and what he had been taught when police question individuals. Tr. 141:1-21.

C. Motion for Judgement of Acquittal

Mr. Armstead argued under *N.Y. State Rifle & Pistol Ass'n v. Bruen*, 597 U.S._,_-,_ 142 S. Ct. 2111, 213 L. Ed. 2d 387 (2022), the regulatory statutes he was charged with as well as the exception under the transportation statute, D.C. Code § 22-4504.02(b)(1), is unconstitutional because Mr. Armstead had a valid license to possess a firearm in Maryland and Virginia. Tr. 175:10-21. The statute allows for transportation between jurisdiction, but for the traffic stop, he

would not have been present in the District of Columbia to implicate the possession of unregistered firearm or unlawful possession of ammunition crimes and be in violation of either of those crimes as it was only his intention to pass through the District. Tr. 175:22-25, 176:1-6. Though the statute allows for firearms to be in the trunk of a vehicle during transport, Mr. Armstead attempted to abide by the law as he understood it at the time. Tr. 176:7-16.

The trial court denied the motion finding that the regulatory statutes about how an individual can carry a disassembled firearm through the District of Columbia without stopping anywhere is not unconstitutional as written because it gives a manner of how to do it. Tr. 178:8-14. Specifically, the trial court found the fact that the statute requires the firearm to be in the trunk rather than the back seat is not of constitutional importance. Tr. 178:15-22.

D. Trial Court Findings

In ruling on the motion to suppress statements and tangible evidence, the trial court found that Mr. Armstead was in police custody at the time as it was clear he did not believe he was free to leave. Tr. 172:1-13. The trial court further found when Officer Tipps questioned Mr. Armstead about the firearm it was intended to elicit an incriminating response. 172:14-19. The trial court found but for Mr. Armstead's statement the officers would not have found the disassembled firearm in his vehicle. Tr. 173:4-11. The trial court suppressed Mr. Armstead's statement. However, because it found that Mr. Armstead was not coerced into providing the statements and that they were voluntarily, the tangible evidence found as a result of that statement could not be suppressed. Tr. 172:20-22, 174:6-10. Based on the remaining record, the trial court found Mr. Armstead guilty of all three charges.

ARGUMENT

I. A DE NOVO REVIEW OF THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS TANGIBLE EVIDENCE REQUIRES REVERSAL BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE WAS OBTAINED AS A RESULT OF UNLAWFUL INTERROGATION AND THE STATEMENT WAS NOT VOLUNTARY IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT.

In reviewing the trial court's denial of a motion to suppress, the Court of Appeal's scope is limited. Deference must be given to the trial court's factual findings. *Lawrence v. United States*, 566 A.2d 57, 60 (D.C. 1989). The facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom must be viewed in favor or sustaining the trial court's ruling. *Peay v. United States*, 597 A.2d 1318, 1320 (D.C. 1991) (en banc). However, the review of the trial court's legal conclusions is *de novo. Lewis v. United States*, 632 A.2d 383, 385 (D.C. 1993).

Evidence obtained in violation of the Constitution is inadmissible at trial. *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 484 (1963). The "fruits" of an illegal search can include physical evidence, police observations, identifications, and statements. *Robinson v. United States*, 76 A.3d 329, 342 (D.C. 2013); *Oliver v. United States*, 656 A.2d 1159, 1172 (D.C. 1995). Only if the evidence was obtained through means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of the primary taint is it admissible. *New York v. Harris*, 495 U.S. 14 (1990); *Wong Sun*, 371 U.S. at 488. The burden of showing that the discovery of the at-issue evidence was sufficiently attenuated from the illegal action rests with the government. *Dunaway v. New York*, 442 U.S. 200, 218 (1979).

In this case, the trial correctly found that Mr. Armstead's statements were made in violation of his *Miranda* rights under the Fifth Amendment. Though *United States v. Patane*, 542 U.S. 630, 642 (2004) held the "fruit of poisonous tree doctrine" does not apply to *Miranda* violations, the instant case is distinguishable. The only reason why the police knew that a disassembled firearm was in Mr. Armstead's vehicle was because of the result of their unlawful interrogation. Unlike in

Patane, prior to the officers asking Mr. Armstead questions, they had no suspicion that a firearm could be in the vehicle. The only crime that they were aware Mr. Armstead may have committed was no permit and he was not under arrest at that time. In Patane, the officers already had information that the defendant was in possession of a firearm and were in the process of arresting him. While giving Miranda, the defendant interrupted the officers and then proceeded to tell them where the firearm was in the house.

A *Miranda* violation raises a presumption of coercion, *Oregon v. Elstad*, 470 U.S. 298, 306-307, and n. 1, 84 L. Ed. 2d 222, 105 S. Ct. 1285 (1985). The Fifth Amendment privilege against compelled self-incrimination extends to the exclusion of derivative evidence, *see United States v. Hubbell*, 530 U.S. 27, 37-38, 147 L. Ed. 2d 24, 120 S. Ct. 2037 (2000) (recognizing "the Fifth Amendment's protection against the prosecutor's use of incriminating information derived directly or indirectly from ... [actually] compelled testimony"); *Kastigar v. United States*, 406 U.S. 441, 453, 32 L. Ed. 2d 212, 92 S. Ct. 1653 (1972).

Therefore, because a *Miranda* violation occurred in this case and the only reason the officers found the tangible evidence – firearm and ammunition – was because of Mr. Armstead's statements, it is clear his statements were not voluntary. He was surrounded by armed officers in tactical gear that were part of the rebranded Gun Recovery Unit. If the officers would have properly given *Miranda* without compelling Mr. Armstead's statements first, he would have been given the opportunity to knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive *Miranda* or remain silent. If he would have remained silent and never given the statement about the firearm, then the officers would have never known about the disassembled firearm in the vehicle and there would be no tangible evidence. For those reasons, it is clear Mr. Armstead's statements were not voluntarily

and coerced by the officers. The trial court erred in not applying *Wong Sun* and the tangible evidence should have been suppressed.

II. A DE NOVO REVIEW OF THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF THE MJOA REQUIRES REVERSAL OF THE CONVICTION BECAUSE THE REGULATORY STATUTES OF FIREARM POSSESSION AND TRANSPORT ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER BRUEN WHEN AN INDIVIDUAL MAY LAWFULLY POSSESS A FIREARM IN ANOTHER JURISDICTION TO WHICH HE IS TRAVELING AND HAS NO INTENTION TO STOP IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA BUT FOR A TRAFFIC VIOLATION.

The Second Amendment of the Constitution guarantees the right of Americans to bear arms. U.S. Const. amend. II. In *Bruen*, the United States Supreme Court expanded this constitutional right and restricted the state's ability to restrict citizens' rights to carry firearms publicly for their self-defense. The Court in *Bruen* determined the standard for applying the Second Amendment is:

"When the Second Amendment's plain text covers an individual's conduct, the Constitution presumptively protects that conduct. The government must then justify its regulation by demonstrating that it is consistent with the Nation's historical tradition of firearm regulation. Only then may a court conclude that the individual's conduct falls outside the Second Amendment's "unqualified command." *Konigsberg*, 366 U.S., at 50, n. 10, 81 S. Ct. 997, 6 L.Ed. 2d 105.

Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2130.

This Court reviews a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute *de novo*. *See Beeton v. District of Columbia*, 779 A.2d 918, 921 (D.C. 2001) (quoting *Jemison v. National Baptist Convention*, 720 A.2d 275, 281 (D.C. 1998) (internal quotation and other citations omitted)).

In this case, Mr. Armstead challenges the constitutionality of the regulatory firearm statutes, D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a) and D.C. Code § 7-2506.01, under the new *Bruen* standard. Specifically, when Mr. Armstead had the lawful ability to possess a firearm in the jurisdictions he was traveling to and from and the only reason for the violation of the District of Columbia regulation was because of a traffic stop. Additionally, Mr. Armstead attempted to abide by the law

by disassembling the firearm but because he misinterpreted the transport statute, D.C. Code § 22-4504.02, he was in violation of a law that regulated his constitutionally protected conduct.

Like in *Bruen*, it is clear the plain text of the Second Amendment protects Mr. Armstead's conduct – traveling with a lawfully possessed, disassembled firearm to another place where he can lawfully possess it. Therefore, it is the government's burden to show that the transporting regulation and possession regulations are consistent with the Nation's historical tradition of firearm regulation. Though the transporting regulation allows for transport if an individual follows specific rules, i.e. unloading the firearm, storing it in the trunk or locked container, etc., it still places an undue burden on individuals that are legally able to possess firearms in different jurisdictions that only plan to travel through the District of Columbia without stopping. As in Mr. Armstead's case, the only reason why he was in violation of the statute and implicated for the crimes was because he was stopped for a minor traffic violation. Therefore, the appellant's conviction for the firearm offenses must be reversed as a matter of law as Mr. Armstead should not be convicted of violations of statutes that are unconstitutional and infringe on his Second Amendment rights.

CONCLUSION

The trial court erred in failing to suppress the tangible evidence – firearm and ammunition – when it was obtained by the unlawful interrogation of Mr. Armstead in violation of his Fifth Amendment rights, and his convictions for the firearm offenses must be reversed as the statutes for which he violated are unconstitutional under *Bruen* and the Second Amendment.

RELIEF SOUGHT

Appellant Gibram Armstead's conviction for attempted possession of unregistered firearm and unlawful possession of ammunition must be reversed with instructions to enter a judgment of acquittal.