No. 23-CT-2

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAIRSceived 08/07/2024 05:56 PM Filed 08/07/2024 05:56 PM

GIBRAM WILLIAM ARMSTEAD, APPELLANT,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS Deputy Solicitor General

*BRYAN J. LEITCH Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

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

1. Armstead voluntarily disclosed the gun and ammunition.

Viewed as a whole, the circumstances surrounding the July 2022 traffic stop confirm that Armstead's statement about the gun and ammunition was voluntary and made without improper police coercion. Armstead is a competent adult with no obvious mental or physical impairments who had been pulled over by police before, and who was not handcuffed at the time of his statement. SA 59, 76, 105, 114, 163. Nor was Armstead ever yelled at, struck, threatened, tricked, lied to, or otherwise subjected to improper mental or physical pressure. SA 42, 75-76, 101, 114, 122; *see* SA 187-188. Rather, the single-question colloquy that produced Armstead's

statement occurred in public during daylight hours in a conversational tone and lasted only a few seconds. SA 37, 42-43, 75-76, 165; *see Green*, 974 A.2d at 250, 261-62 (holding that "statements revealing the presence of a gun" were "not coerced" in part because questioning occurred "on a public street").

Armstead's own behavior, moreover, underscores the absence of coercion. As the trial court found, Armstead "was composed and coherent the whole time" and was not the least bit "intimidated" by the situation. SA 197; see SA 43, 76, 114, 122. Far from it. Armstead "stood up for himself," the court noted, and engaged in "a legal argument with a detective." SA 197; see SA 108-09, 113. The trial court thus correctly found that Armstead's "statements were voluntary" and that "his will was not overborn[e]." SA 197; see Turner v. United States, 116 A.3d 894, 936-37 (D.C. 2015) (finding statements voluntary where suspect was "not handcuffed" and "his demeanor [w]as relaxed, spontaneous, and evincing no sign of distress or discomfort"), aff'd on other grounds, 582 U.S. 313 (2017).

2. Armstead cannot distinguish *Patane*, and he offers no sound reason to second-guess the trial court's factual findings.

Armstead resists this straightforward conclusion on what appear to be two grounds. Br. 6-8. Both of his contentions lack merit.

First, Armstead admits (Br. 6-7) that the "fruit of the poisonous tree" doctrine does not apply to voluntary unwarned statements under *Patane*, so he tries to distinguish *Patane* on its facts. According to Armstead (Br. 6-7), the police in

Patane already knew about the defendant's gun and were in the process of arresting him when he interrupted his Miranda rights to confess about the pistol. But here, Armstead insists, Investigator Tipps had no suspicion about a firearm in Armstead's car before asking whether he had a gun; the officers knew only that he had no driver's license and was not yet under arrest. Br. 6-7.

Armstead's purported distinction is constitutionally irrelevant. *Patane* did not turn on what the police knew before the interrogation; it turned on the nature of the evidence they discovered *after* the interrogation—namely, physical evidence that is not protected by the Fifth Amendment's Self-Incrimination Clause or *Miranda*'s prophylactic rule. *See* 542 U.S. at 633-38. The same conclusion follows here. Armstead identifies nothing in *Patane* to suggest that it would have been decided differently had the police not known about Patane's gun before questioning him, and he offers no sound reason to impose such an artificial limit on *Patane*.

Second, Armstead appears to contend (Br. 7-8) in the alternative that, even if Patane applies here, his firearm and ammunition should still be suppressed because his statements were involuntary. In Armstead's view, his response to Investigator Tipps's question was not voluntary because "a Miranda violation occurred," he was "surrounded by armed officers in tactical gear," and his statements were the "only reason" the officers found his firearm and ammunition. Br. 7.

But none of these (alleged) circumstances—individually or collectively—suggest that Armstead's will was overborne. To start, the failure to give *Miranda* warnings "does not constitute coercion[.]" *Elstad*, 470 U.S. at 306 n.1 (emphasis omitted); *see United States v. Turner*, 761 A.2d 845, 854-55 (D.C. 2000) ("[C]ustodial interrogation is insufficient to make a statement involuntary."). The Supreme Court has long distinguished "the voluntariness inquiry" from the absence of "*Miranda* warnings," *Dickerson*, 530 U.S. at 444, and it has made clear that "there is no warrant for presuming coercive effect where the suspect's initial inculpatory statement, though technically in violation of *Miranda*, was voluntary." *Elstad*, 470 U.S. at 318. That rule applies here with particular force, as Armstead had been in "custody" for only a "millisecond" before he admitted, in response to a single question, that he had a gun in his car. SA 193, 197-98.

As to Armstead's second point, the facts do not support his contention that he was "surrounded" by officers at the time of his admission, at least not in any sense that would convey coercion. Rather, the record indicates that Armstead was speaking with Investigator Tipps in a more one-on-one fashion when he admitted to having a firearm, as Investigators Marsh and Turner were standing on the other side of Armstead's vehicle. *See* SA 123-126. Because "the facts and all reasonable inferences" must be construed "in favor of sustaining the trial court ruling," *Peay*,

597 A.2d at 1320, Armstead cannot portray himself as having been closely encircled by multiple officers pressuring him to confess. *See* SA 197-198.

Besides, answering a simple, nonthreatening question while "surrounded" by "armed" officers in "tactical gear" is not the sort of egregious scenario indicating coercion. *See Mohammed*, 693 F.3d at 198. By definition, every police interrogation takes place in the presence of "officers," many of whom will be "armed." *See Murdock*, 667 F.3d at 1306 (holding that factors "inherent in any custodial interrogation" do not establish actual coercion). And the donning of "tactical gear" by itself cannot render a statement involuntary, particularly where, as here, the record shows that the only "tactical gear" was the officers' bulletproof vests, radios, and badges. SA 41-42, 44; *see* Armstead Br. 3. Armstead offers no reason to think that he was coerced by the sight of such garden-variety police attire and protective equipment. *See Green*, 974 A.2d at 250, 252, 261-62 (deeming statement voluntary even though officers approached suspect with "their guns drawn").

Finally, the importance of Armstead's statement to the discovery of his gun and ammunition has no bearing on whether the statement itself was voluntary under the Fifth Amendment. Voluntariness turns on the totality of the circumstances surrounding an interrogation, *Graham*, 950 A.2d at 735-36, not the likelihood of discovering evidence through other means. Armstead cannot manufacture coercion in this case by speculating that officers may not have found his gun and ammunition

without his statement. *See United States v. DeSumma*, 272 F.3d 176, 178-80 (3d Cir. 2001) (upholding admission of firearm that defendant stated was in his car before receiving *Miranda* warnings, even though "no evidence" indicated FBI agents "knew defendant was carrying a weapon" before questioning him).

C. Even if erroneous, the admission of Armstead's firearm and ammunition was harmless.

Any error in admitting Armstead's gun and ammunition was harmless given his admission that he knowingly possessed those illicit items. As this Court has held, convictions should be affirmed when a purported constitutional error is "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *Brown v. United States*, 139 A.3d 870, 878 (D.C. 2016). Here, Armstead freely admitted on direct examination that he had a gun and ammunition in his car: "I had the magazine on the door, I had the lower receiver, I believe, in the console, and I had the slide in the bag." SA 165; SA 172 (admitting he had "loose ammunition" in his car); SA 180-183 (same on cross-examination). Even if that physical evidence had been excluded, then, Armstead's own testimony independently established his guilt under D.C. Code §§ 7-2502.01(a) and 7-2506.01. The Court can reject Armstead's *Miranda* arguments on this basis alone.

II. Armstead's Second Amendment Claim Is Unreviewable And Meritless.

- A. Armstead's arguments are barred due to lack of standing and unreviewable due to waiver.
 - 1. Armstead lacks standing to challenge the District's transportation regulation, D.C. Code § 22-4504.02.

Armstead's claim is unclear, but to the extent he challenges D.C. Code § 22-4504.02, he lacks standing to do so as he was not prosecuted under that law, which regulates transportation of both registered and unregistered guns, *see supra* pp. 3-4. Defendants "may not challenge a statute" under the Second Amendment "by arguing that it could not be constitutionally applied to other defendants," because courts must "confine [their] analysis to the legislative prohibition underlying appellant's conviction." *Gamble*, 30 A.3d at 166, 168; *see Chew v. United States*, 314 A.3d 80, 84 (D.C. 2024). Here, Armstead was charged and convicted under D.C. Code §§ 7-2502.01(a) and 7-2506.01 for attempting to possess an unregistered firearm and ammunition, SA 203—not D.C. Code § 22-4504.02, as Armstead's counsel repeatedly acknowledged, SA 171, 199, 200. Armstead thus lacks standing to challenge Section 22-4504.02. *See Gamble*, 30 A.3d at 166-68.

The structure of the District's statutory regime underscores the point. The provisions Armstead violated—Sections 7-2502.01(a) and 7-2506.01—require a valid registration certificate to possess a handgun and ammunition in the District, while another provision—Section 7-2502.01(b)(3)—allows nonresidents to transport unregistered firearms under certain conditions, including compliance with

the requirements of Section 22-4504.02 (e.g., firearm must be unloaded and stored in trunk). *See supra* pp. 3-4. Section 22-4504.02, in other words, merely prescribes the manner in which nonresidents must transport unregistered guns to fit within Section 7-2502.01(b)(3)'s affirmative defense to the general prohibitions in Sections 7-2502.01(a) and 7-2506.01. *See supra* p. 4; *see also Thorne v. United States*, 55 A.3d 873, 877, 880-81 (D.C. 2012) (noting that the "statutory exemptions" in D.C. Code §§ 7-2502.01 and 7-2506.01 are affirmative defenses).

But Armstead has never invoked Section 7-2502.01(b)(3)—and he cannot. For one, Armstead appears to have admitted at trial that he knew in July 2022 that a firearm "has to be stored like in a trunk or something" under Section 22-4504.02, and yet he intentionally put his gun and ammunition in the passenger compartment of his car. *See* SA 172, 181-182. Also, even aside from Section 22-4504.02, it is undisputed that Armstead was not "participating in any lawful recreational firearm-related activity in the District" when he was arrested, or "on his way to or from such activity in another jurisdiction," which are separate requirements under Section 7-2502.01(b)(3). *See* SA 160-161. So, even if Section 22-4504.02 were constitutionally suspect—and it is not—Armstead's challenge to that provision would still provide no basis to disturb his convictions under Sections 7-2502.01(a) and 7-2506.01. This is all the more reason not to consider Armstead's claim against

Section 22-4504.02. *See Gamble*, 30 A.3d at 167 n.11 (following the "long judicial tradition" of avoiding "constitutional questions" when possible).

2. Armstead waived his remaining challenges by not raising them in a pretrial motion to dismiss.

Armstead's constitutional challenge to the statutes that actually underlie his conviction—D.C. Code §§ 7-2502.01(a) and 7-2506.01(a)—is also unreviewable because he raised no such claims in his pretrial motion. Under Rule 12, any "defect in the indictment or information," including "failure to state an offense," "must be raised by pretrial motion" if it is "reasonably available" and "can be determined without a trial on the merits." Super. Ct. Crim. R. 12(b)(3)(B)(v) (emphasis added). Failure to do so renders "the motion untimely," and the court cannot consider the defense unless the party shows "good cause." Super. Ct. Crim. R. 12(c)(3). Constitutional challenges to the offense-creating statute that were available and decidable before trial, and not excused for good cause, are thus "procedurally barred" on appeal unless raised in a pretrial motion. Fadero v. United States, 180 A.3d 1068, 1072-73 (D.C. 2018) (deeming constitutional claim "untimely" and "waived" as defendant "did not raise" it "before trial" and "has not attempted to excuse his delay by showing 'good cause'").2

An earlier version of Rule 12 allowed defendants to argue that an indictment or information fails "to charge an offense" at "any time during the pendency of the proceedings." Super. Ct. Crim. R. 12(b)(2) (2013); see Conley v. United States, 79

These principles foreclose review of Armstead's Second Amendment claim. The trial court set a pretrial motions deadline for October 28, 2022—more than a month before trial and a full four months after *Bruen* was decided. SA 3. Armstead filed a timely pretrial motion to suppress, but he raised no Second Amendment claim in that motion or at any other time before trial. SA 7-12. Armstead's counsel, in fact, did not even mention the Second Amendment or *Bruen* until Armstead testified near the end of trial, SA 171, and she waited until the close of evidence "to try to preserve" Armstead's "*Bruen* argument," SA 199-200. This eleventh-hour gambit forced the trial court to decide Armstead's admittedly "convoluted" *Bruen* claim without the benefit of briefing, and it deprived the District of any meaningful opportunity to dispute Armstead's assertions. *See* SA 199-203.

That is exactly what Rule 12 forbids. As this Court has explained, Rule 12's requirements are essential to "the sound administration of justice" because "it is not fair to the trial judge" for a defendant "to seek reversal of the judgment on a ground that was fully available to him, but never presented, prior to trial." *Moghalu v. United States*, 122 A.3d 923, 926 (D.C. 2015). This admonition applies with even

A.3d 270, 275-76 (D.C. 2013). But Rule 12 was amended in 2017 to mirror Fed. R. Crim. P. 12, see D.C. Super. Ct. Crim. R. P. 12 cmt. (2017), under which, challenges to the constitutionality of an offense-creating statute are waived and unreviewable unless asserted in a pretrial motion to dismiss, *United States v. Cardona*, 88 F.4th 69, 75-78 (1st Cir. 2023), cert. denied, 144 S. Ct. 1082 (2024). But see Chew, 314 A.3d at 89-100 (Easterly, J., concurring).

greater force to Second Amendment claims under *Bruen*, which focus so heavily on the written historical record, *see* 597 U.S. at 33-71. Trial judges (or the government for that matter) cannot fairly be asked to address such issues for the first time at trial based only on defense counsel's oral assertions without pretrial notice and briefing. *See, e.g., People v. Cabrera*, 230 N.E.3d 1082, 1093 (N.Y. 2023) (emphasizing that *Bruen*'s historical "inquiry only underscores the importance of preservation" of "Second Amendment challenges in the court of first instance").

So too here. Armstead's claim could have been raised and resolved before trial because *Bruen* was decided nearly a month before his arrest, SA 1, and because he appeared to assert a facial challenge to D.C. Code §§ 7-2502.01(a) and 7-2506.01(a), see SA 199-203, and he lacked standing to assert a more fact-intensive claim against D.C. Code § 22-4504.02, supra pp. 25-27. Armstead, moreover, has never tried to show good cause for his delay. See Br. 8-9. This is, accordingly, a clear-cut case of waiver, Fadero, 180 A.3d at 1072-73, regardless of whether the trial court or the District addressed Armstead's claim on the merits. After all, a trial court decision does not "preclude an appellate court from ruling that the motion should have been denied on a procedural ground," United States v. Walker-Couvertier, 860 F.3d 1, 9 (1st Cir. 2017), and the District had virtually no chance to contest Armstead's claim precisely because he raised it in a last-minute oral motion,

see United States v. Herrera, 51 F.4th 1226, 1284-85 (10th Cir. 2022) ("Without a chance to address the issue, the government couldn't have 'waived the waiver."").

This Court, therefore, need not review Armstead's belated Second Amendment claim at all. While Armstead suggests that he preserved his argument in a verbal Rule 29 "motion for judgment of acquittal," Br. 1, 4-5, arguments that must be raised in a pretrial Rule 12 motion cannot be asserted for the first time in a Rule 29 motion. *See United States v. Ramirez*, 324 F.3d 1225, 1227-28 (11th Cir. 2003) (deeming "statute of limitation defense" waived when raised "in a Rule 29 motion and not a Rule 12(b) motion"); *United States v. Colon-Munoz*, 192 F.3d 210, 216-17 (1st Cir. 1999) (same, "constitutional objection"). This is because Rule 29 motions challenge the sufficiency of the evidence; they are not vehicles for raising claims or defenses for the first time. *See Ramirez*, 324 F.3d at 1227-28. Armstead's Second Amendment challenge is thus unreviewable.

B. The Superior Court did not plainly err in rejecting Armstead's Second Amendment claim.

1. Armstead's *Bruen* claim is at the very least forfeited and reviewable only for plain error.

Even if not waived, Armstead's Second Amendment claim is still forfeited and reviewable only for plain error. *See Walker v. United States*, 201 A.3d 586, 593-94 (D.C. 2019) (holding that, even if "waiver defense" was "waived," arguments not raised in a pretrial motion are "forfeited" and reviewed for "plain error"). As this

Court has held, defendants must raise challenges with "reasonable specificity," *Baxter v. United States*, 640 A.2d 714, 717 (D.C. 1994), so that the prosecution can "respond to any contentions" and the trial judge can "correct the situation without jettisoning the trial," *Perkins v. United States*, 760 A.2d 604, 609 (D.C. 2000) (internal quotation marks omitted). A "bare citation to a decision," however, does not raise a "claim with the distinctness necessary to preserve it." *Nesbeth v. United States*, 870 A.2d 1193, 1197 (D.C. 2005); *see United States v. Dowdell*, 70 F.4th 134, 141 (3d Cir. 2023) ("Simply citing a case in the District Court is not sufficient to raise all arguments that might flow from it." (cleaned up)).

Just so here. Armstead's counsel mentioned *Bruen* after the close of evidence "mostly for the record," but never explained what *Bruen* held or why it "opens the door to challenging" the District's "unregistered firearm" and "ammunition statutes." SA 199-203. Armstead never claimed, for example, that his conduct fell within the Second Amendment's text, as *Bruen* requires, 597 U.S. at 17, 24, and he never challenged the historical pedigree of the District's laws, as *Bruen* also requires, *id.* at 17, 19, 24. His counsel instead simply cited *Bruen* and asserted that the District's laws should "be looked at again." SA 199-200. That does not preserve any claim for appeal, *see Nesbeth*, 870 A.2d at 1197, much less the sweeping facial challenge that Armstead now appears to mount. Indeed, his meager argument below principally focused on Section 22-4504.02's transportation requirements, while

barely gesturing at the District's registration scheme as a whole. This Court should accordingly not treat as preserved a massive constitutional challenge to the District's registration laws that was undeveloped below.

2. Armstead has not shown that the trial court erred, let alone plainly so, in rejecting his *Bruen* claim.

Plain-error review "is a formidable hurdle." *Williams v. United States*, 858 A.2d 984, 992 (D.C. 2004). Under that standard, convictions will be affirmed unless appellants show (1) error, (2) that is plain, (3) that affected their substantial rights, and (4) that seriously affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceeding. *Chew*, 314 A.3d at 83 n.1. A "plain" error is one that is obvious under existing law, and an issue that "has not been decided in this jurisdiction" cannot be plain error. *Baxter*, 640 A.2d at 717; *see Riddick*, 995 A.2d at 221-22 (affirming where alleged Second Amendment violation was not "obvious").

Here, Armstead has not shown any error, much less plain error. Before *Bruen*, this Court repeatedly upheld D.C. Code §§ 7-2502.01(a) and 7-2506.01 against Second Amendment challenges. *See, e.g., Newman v. United States*, 258 A.3d 162, 166 (D.C. 2021); *Dubose v. United States*, 213 A.3d 599, 603 (D.C. 2019); *Smith v. United States*, 20 A.3d 759, 764 (D.C. 2011); *Plummer v. United States*, 983 A.2d 323, 334-39 (D.C. 2009). With respect to handguns in particular, this Court held that "[b]asic registration" laws and "qualifications for firearms registration" are "deeply enough rooted in our history to support the presumption that a registration

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